MINUTES OF THE JACKSON HOLE AIRPORT BOARD

DATE: November 1, 2017

BOARD PRESENT: Jim Waldrop, Jerry Blann, Rick Braun, Mary Gibson Scott and John
Eastman were present in the Airport Board Conference Room.

OTHERS PRESENT: Gary Pollock, National Park Service; Jim Stanford, Town of Jackson: Ryk
Dunkelberg, Mead & Hunt; Mark Chambers, Aviation Resource Group International; Mike
Morgan, LSJH&F; Mike Mahoney, KLJ; Thomas Kirsten, Jorgensen Engineering; Michael
Lawrence, Greg Herrick, Wyoming Jet Center; Dave Coyle, Pete Lindell, Fly Jackson Hole; Jeff
Brown, Jackson Hole Aviation; Jeremy Mayo, Hertz; Lealan Miller, Eide Bailly; Alex Lemieux,
Wort Hotel; Peter Kline, Teton Aviation; Mark LaJohn, TMC; Ed Leibzeit, Mark Barron, Jim
Stockhouse, Public; Jim Elwood, Dustin Havel, Michelle Anderson, Aimee Crook, Tony Cross,
Megan Jenkins, Jake Sperl, Robin Usher, Esther Borja, Jamey Miles, Sallie DuMond, Kaitlin
Perkins, Jackson Hole Airport.

CALL TO ORDER: Waldrop called the meeting of the Jackson Hole Airport Board to order at
9:00 am on Wednesday, November 1, 2017.

I. EMPLOYEE OF THE MONTH: Elwood recognized the security screening team as
November’'s employees of the month.

Il. COMMUNITY OUTREACH: Elwood stated Tony Cross gave a presentation to students at
Teton Literacy Center focused on identifying music through emotions. Elwood thanked Airport
Staff that participated in Jackson Hole Wild Film Festival. -

lll. COMMENTS FROM — NATIONAL PARK SERVICE, TOWN OF JACKSON, TETON
COUNTY AND THE PUBLIC: Pollock stated that seasonal road closures for Teton Park Road
and Moose Wilson Road begin November 1. He said that Grand Teton National Park visitation
through the month of September has increased approximately 1% over 2016.

Stanford stated that the Town of Jackson has been working on land development and housing
rules and regulations.

IV. COMMITTEE UPDATES: Blann spoke for the Conceptual Committee and stated that bids
will be opened and reviewed for Phase 3 of the new Fuel Farm on November 2™, He said there
is a waterline item on the agenda to service the Fuel Farm and future facilities.

Gibson Scott stated the Concessions Committee has met several times to discuss the upcoming
Rental Car Bid. She said that the bid documents are close to being advertised and it is expected
the bids will be up for Board consideration at the December meeting.

Eastman spoke for the Facilities Committee stating that Spring Gulch Road revegetation
improvements have taken place. He said that the checked baggage make-up security screening
equipment received programming upgrades. He said information display screens on the ramp
side of baggage claim recently were installed.

Eastman stated that the General Aviation Committee has been focused on the second FBO
matter which will be presented later in the meeting.



Eastman stated that Grand Teton National Park Committee met on October 5. He said the
potential new fire station and various capital improvement projects were discussed.

Gibson Scott spoke for the Human Resources & Health Committee stating that airport staffing is
full with a reduced turnover rate.

Gibson Scott spoke for the Transportation Committee stating that the airport met with JH Shuttle
and Central Reservations to discuss winter operations.

LEGAL UPDATE: Morgan stated that Wyoming Jet Center (WJC) filed a Petition claiming that
the Jackson Hole Airport Board is subject to the Wyoming Public Records Act and has violated
the Act by failing to provide a log of documents that were withheld from a recent document
production. He stated his belief that the petition was without merit and will be dismissed. He said
that is the belief because there are two Public Records Acts in Wyoming. He said the first is a
broader Public Records Act that applies to state government and certain local governments and
it specifies that a broad range of documents must be disclosed and provides certain exceptions
to those disclosures. He said the exceptions include confidential financial information from a
third party, documents that are covered by the attorney client privilege, and documents covered
by the deliberative process privilege. He said the Board is not subject to this Act. He said the
second is the Special District Public Records and Meetings Act, which specifies that certain
types of documents must be released. He said these documents are, generally speaking,
meeting minutes, by-laws, financial statements and budgets. The Board is subject to this Act.
He said the request made by WJC was not under the Special District Public Records and
Meetings Act but was under the broader Public Records Act. He said that the Airport Board has
always made it a practice to go beyond the requirements of the law and disclosed all public
records that are not subject to certain exceptions under the Act.

He said that since there has been an application for a second FBO the Board has responded to
five Public Records Requests from WJC. He said in September, WJC posed a request for a
broad category of documents seeking information about the possible purchase of Jackson Hole
Aviation by the Board. He said there were fourteen different categories of documents requested
and the Board responded to nine of them. He said with respect to the five categories not
responded to, the Board posed objections based on the fact that doing so would require
disclosure of confidential financial information, and information subject to the attorney-client and
deliberative process privileges. He said that Board has obtained co-counsel, Paula Fleck of
Holland & Hart, LLP in Jackson, and will be filing a response to the Petition and will be asking
the Court to determine what the Board is subject to the Special District Public Records and
Meetings Act.

V. ACTIVITIES REPORTS REVIEW:

A. Quarterly ADDs: Anderson stated that ADDs for the quarter ending September 30" were
5.33 and annually ADDs were 3.67.

B. Activities Reports: Elwood stated that passenger enplanements decreased 11% from
September 2016. He said that year to date enplanements remain the same as 2016.

VI. ACTION ITEMS:

A. Consent Agenda:



A1. Approval of the Minutes — September 20, 2017 and October 18, 2017
A2. ECO Lube - Contract

A3. Auto Detailing of JH — Contract Extension

A4. Detail Driven — Contract Extension

Braun made a motion to approve consent agenda items A1 through A4. Gibson Scott seconded
the motion, which passed unanimously.

B. Financial Reports:

1. Passenger Facility Charge (PFC): Anderson stated $325,233 has been collected in PFCs
for the third quarter 2017. She said on average, the Airport collects $1 million in PFCs per year.

2. Customer Facility Charge (CFC): Anderson stated that the CFC balance as of September
30™ is $3,551,586.

2. Income & Expense Operating Statements: Anderson stated that income is above the
budgeted amount for September and year to date continues to track above budget at 4.86%.
She said year to date expenses are slightly over budget. Blann made a motion to approve
financial reports for September. Braun seconded the motion. Having no further discussion, the
motion passed unanimously.

C. Payment of the Bills: Braun made a motion to approve checks 34270-34407 and ACH
payroll and tax batches September 30 and October 15, 2017. Blann seconded the motion,
which passed unanimously.

D. Audit: Elwood introduced Lee Miller of Eide Bailly. Miller stated that Eide Bailly found
nothing to identify for improving auditing procedures or internal control procedures. He said Eide
Bailly looks forward to working with the airport.

Blann made a motion to accept the audit for the fiscal year end June 30, 2017. Eastman
seconded the motion. With no further discussion, the motion passed unanimously.

E. Hangars 4 & 5 Leases and FBO Operating Agreement: Elwood stated that Jackson Hole
Aviation (JHA) has a First Right to enter into a new Lease for Hangars 4 and 5 and a new FBO
Operating Agreement when the existing documents expire in April 2018. He said that the Board
is contractually bound to offer a Lease and Operating Agreement to JHA, regardless of the
alternative selected regarding the issuance of an RFP for a second FBO or entering into an
Asset Purchase Agreement with JHA. He said that the Board'’s financial advisor, Liebowitz &
Horton, has reviewed the agreements.

Blann made a motion to authorize signature of the Hangars 4 & 5 Lease and the FBO Operating
Agreement with JHA in the forms presented. Eastman seconded the motion, which passed
unanimously.

F. FBO Decision: Waldrop stated there will be two presentations on either 1) the issuance of a
RFP for operation of a second FBO at the airport or 2) purchase of assets of JHA for
approximately $26 million, in which event the Airport Board would operate a single FBO at the
airport. He said the public will be permitted to ask questions after each presentation, but
requested that more general comments be held until after both presentations.



1. Proposed RFP for Second FBO: Elwood stated that the Board has reviewed a draft RFP for
a second FBO at the Airport which is ready for issuance. He said the RFP contains the form of a
proposed 5 year FBO Operating Agreement with an initial ramp allocation diagram. He said the
RFP set forth a scoring system for judging the proposals, which will be judged pass/fail on
responsiveness and meeting the minimum standards. He said proposers will then be judged on
overall entity experience, proposed management/staff experience, environmental and social
responsibility, services above the minimum, and the amount of privilege fee bid. He said the
term of the FBO agreement would be 5 years beginning when the new hangars and fuel facility
are ready for operation. Elwood introduced Ryk Dunkelberg to present on the proposed ramp
allocation and location of a second FBO facility.

Dunkelberg gave a presentation on Exhibit A, the proposed ramp allocation and probable
facilities with one and two FBOs in operation.

Blann stated that two alternatives are clear. He said that on the Two FBO Development Concept
slide, there are two future FBO hangars and the difference is the terminal and office space that
would need to be provided for the second FBO per minimum standards. Elwood said that the
Airport looked into having the future FBO office space on the north side of the future hangars as
an alternative to configure the layout. He said the challenge is with the new Fuel Farm. He said
having occupied space next to the Fuel Farm causes significant challenges with construction
and fire code.

Greg Herrick stated that the Two FBO Development Concept slides show two future FBO
hangars but the Single FBO Development Concept slides show three future FBO hangars. He
said he does not understand why issues related to the fuel farm are a concern relating to two
FBOs and not the single FBO. Elwood stated that if a third hangar was placed with two FBOs it
would not be an efficient utilization of frontage. He said it has the potential to be constructed but
there are challenges related to the cost benefit ratio of the construction. Herrick asked if it was
unreasonable for two FBOs to share ramp space instead of having separate ramp space for the
individual FBOs. Dunkelberg said the direction was to look at the minimum standard and to
equalize the two FBOs. Herrick asked Dunkelberg if, in his experience, he had seen two FBOs
share ramp space. Dunkelberg said not to his knowledge, that most FBOs have separate ramp
space that is controlled by that FBO.

Mike Koshmrl asked what the minimum standards being referenced relate to. Morgan stated
that the FAA encourages each airport to develop minimum standards for aeronautical activity
that is going to be conducted on that airport. He said that Jackson Hole Airport’s most recent
minimum standards were adopted in 2014. He said the minimum standards are for various
classes of activities such as fixed based operators, aircraft maintenance facilities, Part 135
operators and the like. He said that there are specific requirements that are a minimum to
operate an FBO at the Jackson Hole Airport. He said that includes office space and lounge,
hangar space, a maintenance hangar, proper equipment and fuel availability.

Herrick asked if the only differences between the two Development Concept slides presented
were the office and the shared ramp space. Dunkelberg stated there is also a difference on the
roadways and parking.

Jim Stockhouse asked what will happen to Hangar 2. Elwood stated that in the future Hangar 2
will be removed. Pete Lindell asked if there are assurances for general aviation users that
hangar space will be replaced when Hangar 2 is removed. Elwood said the intent moving



forward is to protect all aircraft type. Waldrop said it is the intent of the current Airport Board that
the space will remain for general aviation use.

Ed Leibzeit asked if there would be additional capital expenditures required for a second FBO.
Elwood stated that there would be additional expenses to construct hangar space per the
minimum standards.

2. Proposed Asset Purchase Agreement: Elwood stated that the Board has reviewed an
Asset Purchase Agreement (APA), signed by Jackson Hole Aviation, in which it agrees to sell its
assets, including its 5 year Lease and FBO Operating Agreement, which it entered into under its
First Right. He said the purchase price is $26 million, plus the cost of fuel and parts inventory on
the date of closing, which will be April 30, 2018. He said the APA provides a time frame and
contingencies for the Board to obtain budget amendment approval from the Town and County,
and to obtain financing for this purchase. Elwood asked Morgan to explain how the Board can
enter into the APA under FAA rules. Morgan stated the law generally requires a second FBO to
be accommodated if there is room for its office space and lounge, hangar space, a maintenance
hangar, and proper equipment on the airport. He said it also provides an exception in situations
where the airport itself chooses to exclusively own and operate the FBO. He said this is
commonly referred to as a “proprietary exclusive.” Morgan stated that without the purchase, the
Board will have the opportunity to exercise “proprietary exclusive” in 2023 when there is not an
operator on the airport that has a contractual right to operate.

Elwood introduced Mark Chambers, Aviation Resources Group International, to present his
analysis of the proposed Asset Purchase Agreement. Chambers gave a presentation on Exhibit
B.

Waldrop asked Chambers to articulate on the bullet point “The financial benefit continues well
into the future, providing a diverse financial base, continue financial self-sufficiency and allow
reinvestment in the airport over the long term.” Chambers stated that in the long term the
profitability of purchasing the FBO will provide a more diverse financial base and continued self-
sufficiency for the airport. Morgan said there is a legal obligation to reinvest the funds into the
airport.

Eastman asked if a lower rate for fuel than JHA currently charges was used to calculate the
projections and if so, what was the discount used. Chambers said that a lower rate was used to
calculate the projections.

Leibzeit asked if there was any empirical evidence that the airport operating the FBO would
offer safety benefits, or whether multiple FBOs create safety challenges. Chambers stated that
JHA has an excellent safety record. He said there is no reason to believe the Board could not
operate to the same safety standard.

Waldrop stated the Board would take comments from the public on either of the alternatives. He
asked the public to not duplicate comments or questions which have already been asked and to
limit comment to three minutes.

Michael Lawrence stated his support for two FBOs operating at the airport. He said there would
not be a loss of ramp space with the operation of two FBOs. He said two FBOs would not drive
growth in the traffic utilizing the ramp space.



Herrick stated his support for two FBOs operating at the airport. He stated the airport could
collect $26 million from charging two FBOs fees instead of investing in the purchase of the
current FBO. He said that two FBOs could provide better service, as competition affords users.

Mark Barron stated his support for the airport purchasing the FBO. He stated that the
community benefits as a result of the airport. He said the Airport Board has managed to run the
airport with a net positive cash flow. He said he supports the Board managing the airport and
FBO and putting the profits towards the services at the Jackson Hole Airport.

Leibzeit stated his support for the airport purchasing the FBO. He stated the opportunity to
better manage the airport and facilities in the short and long term makes sense for the airport,
community and the Park.

Waldrop closed public comment and invited discussion amongst Board members.

Eastman stated that the Board is responsible for three things; financial stability, infrastructure
and planning, and customer experience. He said the Board's responsibility is not only to look at
the airport’s current financial statements but to look to the future. He said the Board is
responsible for working with the Park to optimize planning to evolve and enhance infrastructure.
He said the Board represents the community and the brands of Jackson Hole Airport and Grand
Teton National Park. He said the Security Screening Contract is a precedent that has been set
that is applicable. He said that operationally the Security Screening Contract is a resource drain,
but has been run efficiently and profitably. He said the end result is exceptional customer
experience and management of the airport’s infrastructure. He stated his support for the airport
operating the FBO.

Blann stated that this is the biggest decision the Board has made in a long time. He said his
dramatic bias is towards the private sector and competition. He stated his concern towards the
capital and operating costs. He said that the Board is responsible for governing the airport
destiny to the future. He stated his support for the airport acquiring the FBO.

Braun stated that any decision the Board makes relating to stronger air service is extremely
important. He said if the airport has a stronger financial position it can ensure better air service.
He said that reason alone gains his support for acquiring the FBO.

Gibson Scott stated her appreciation for Eastman’s comments regarding representing the
community and being more user focused. She stated having more control over effects related to
general aviation to the degree that FAA allows is very important given the airport’s relationship
with Grand Teton National Park. She said this is a unique window in time that should be taken
advantage of.

Waldrop complimented his fellow Board members for the thoughtful and detailed approach
they’ve given to this decision. He asked for a motion to either 1) adopt the Resolution in the
form presented approving and authorizing signature of Asset Purchase Agreement and
expressing intent to exercise the proprietary exclusive or, 2) adopt the Resolution in the form
presented authorizing issuance of the RFP for a second FBO of the airport.

Blann made a motion to adopt Resolution 2017-16 in the form presented approving and
authorizing signature of the Asset Purchase Agreement with Jackson Hole Aviation, LLC, and
expressing the Board’s intent to exercise its proprietary exclusive right to operate FBO services
on the Airport. Braun seconded the motion. Herrick requested Resolution 2017-16 be read for



N T S B R R i R S R s e S S T s
—LY0JdYUIY TTOH NOSMIY ([

unjy £r9gol

5084 OML »

. £ HEIHAR) dWYY VO 0] NYid 191N
ﬁNUE 13vad (e Xa) hwomxiﬂoﬂ zmumvﬁmaﬂ

sal1l|1oe) 98eJ01s
}4eJoure 8uipnjoul
sash Jay3o

Joj pue| 1ioduie
Jo Ajigejiene

S90NPAY
L I r— uoJde
1101 °§'S 000904 N (8101 ‘'S 000'90) < i
_voxdyzpogs uoidy |04 3upjaed yjeiodie
e i i e —— “ VO jo Adusoiye
% i B\ 9 UoIezZI|1N
S90NPaY =

seaJe asn uodde
3upjied yjeaoure
094 21e4edas

S24n1eo
ugdisaq <

1d22U0) WwawdopAaq 0g4 (7) om}

] v 1ig.....3 | _



—LY0dYIY TTOH NOSHOY[
beay o Cenume anv o oy

(Juswdinba
pue s3)a(yan
921AJ9S punous
40 uonesyjdnp)

1104 *¥'S 000'20}
X et U ; uoidy |# 084
_‘.1...,".,11..Lv_.$.+...,. f «._ co:mmmCS

= A . s |euoiiesado wiey
: He 4 . [any g dwe.
3upjied asealoul

9]0eqoid n

(panuliuon)
$94N1ed4
udisaq <

1d30U0) awdolaAaq 0g4 (7) omi




T
—LYO0dYIV ITOH NOSHIV[

1 ‘080 LA DRO0D TGO A0 Gl SN e
N n (@asiAa8) NYid INAWAOTIALG 1Y RIdIONOD
peay ; HOAMY 1O NS0T

R NP TS RATa G 10
[0}

sal11|10e) 98e403s
Jeaoare uipnjoul
S9SN J9Y)0 40}
BaJE pue| 924edS
Jo Aljigejiene
S9NIDSBId =
uoude Bupyjied
1jeodie 3ullsixa
Jo Aouaidiyye

|[euoletado

= te 13 Uollezyjin

| void 084 eibuig , 4 | 1UBWIISIAUIRI
B b e L pue Aousidiyns

-}|9S panulluod
104 ‘sanuanal
110duly @sealoul
pue Ajisianlp

01 |e1UOd m

sain1ea4
udisaq <

1d20u0) uaWdodARg 0g 2j8ulIS

AN e

S— s



—LY0dYIV ITOH NOSHIV| JUNH4E

L 08 L4AONOD A2 GO 3A0 Qi 31ONIS »
il i (QzsiAa) NY1d INAWAGTIATD TV ILEDNOD
Pea ? BOGIY 2 10H 4GS 39

(Juawdinba

pue sa|dIyan

921AJ9S punoud

Jo uonesydnp

sajeuiwl|a)

suollelado

we) jany g dwed
yesodie sadwis m

(panunuoo)
sainjead
udisaqg <

1daou0) JuswdojpAag 0g4 9|8uls




Od4d 241l Sk
GVH[ 10 JUBWISSASSY

m
i
=
% 2
P4
LL




suolseny
sauipul) suijioddng

Al9AIsn|oxe 1elado pue
Og4 9yl aldihbde 0} uoiepusaWLoIBY

AVHI 242 Y1IM JUSWSA|OAUL JNO
Jo asodJnd pue uolaNpoLIUl |DHYY

epuUasy




opIMUO]IeU SojdLUBXD SNoJawnu pue ‘eNiew syl Ag paroddns
uoliez||in duwies Jusiolge 940w J0) SMO| |V

pue| odiie 824eas
SUIAISSUOD ‘Odd pug Mau e Ag padinbad sejljioe) exealdnp SPIOAY

1IOdUIY BY3 Ul JUBLIISBAUIR. PUB ADUSIDILNS-}8S PaNUIIUOD
‘9seq [ejoueuly Jo AJisiaAlp adnsse o3 uldey ‘uornguIuod
[BISUBUIL WJB) SUO| PUE JUBLUASOAUL UO UJN3ad SUOUIS B SaPIAC.d

:SMO||0] SB S| Uollepuawiwodad s|y3 104 oddns ovr

WioJ} pue oy UoleliAe |elouad pue 8oiAles aulldie azijian 1euy
2S0y3] Aj|ejoadsa ‘dljgnd ay3 Jo 1sa4a1ul 158d auUl Ul SI gVHT
9y} Ag 0d4 8ulisixe ayi jo uopelado pue uolsinbae ay |




‘93w 01 8SO0Yd Aew pieog oyl SiusWwilsaAul |erides Ag
Pa1daye o ABW YA L|9d '€ EX Jo o|dizjnwi e ui s}nsa. ased
SIY1 Ul WiJel pajolilsad syl ‘GTX pue gTx usamiag ssuel
o|dilnW va.Llg3 ue ul jjes AjjeaidAr 8dAy siy Jo suojzoesue. |

9'8$ €8S 0°8S 9°LS 6'9S vadig3
VAYAS 1°8¢S 6°9¢S ONUSAJY

Y

AVHI @Y1 10J uiniad %471 e suipirod
SSUIUJeS POISEIDI0) YL ULIM WIS] Jeak G suiuleway

941 1IN0 sANg Uoj||iw 9z 4O Uoloesues) paie|diisiuod sy,

uoiNqIIUod jeIDUBULY
W9} suoj] pue JusilsaAuUl Uo uinjal uois e SOPIAOId




SIeaA
G IXoU ayl U18A0 J40dJdIy 0 U.nieu %S T € Uo paseq St aseysind IYl e

UIB3U0d SUl0S B JO ABpo]
oseyodnd e snsieA ‘dn=34e1s ssauisng e asey YSIW GVHE ‘SiedA G Ul

(soj0yd duwied) siasn || 0 UoIEpoWiWoIe
PUE suinjal [eloueuly 4o asdueleq e Ag usAlp usisepal e spesu
1N0Ae| oY1, Ano pexew,, Aj8uisesiou) ade sieduey pue duies vo QYL e

d11em 10U
AYM 0S ‘S1eaA G Ul gVHI BU1 01 S11eA8. AlIl19B) OdH 8UlISIXS B e

WLIBY SUO| 83 I8N0 1I0d4IY SY1 Ul USWISBAUIRI MO][e
pue Adusioljins-j[es |eloueul) anuuod ‘eseq |[BIoUBLILL 8SIBAIP
e SulplAodd ‘@uning 8yl ojul [|[oM Senuuod Jjauaq [eloueul) sy e

(P16} uonNgIUOD
|BlduBUl) W) SU0| pue JUSLLUISSAU] U0 Uinjal JUoJIs e Sapinaig




POAJOAUL SBIOUBIDIYIBUI |BUOlleIBdO BY] 8due|ed 0] Wass 1,uop
084 pu € JO s1lysuag oyl ‘Ajioeded Jesu S| juodiiy 8yl UBAID

gupjled pue seaiojdwe
‘Juswdinba s1eaijdnp osje — salijiae) Supsixe olealjdnp pinom
(Spaepuels wnwiuiA J4ed) og4 puC € J0J padinbaJ Sailljioe) swos

(S8l1ijead diued
PSPIAIP) selousioliaul [euonelsdo pue Aljiae) SNyl pue 444 0494
puC € Sodinbad ssuepins 4 ‘094 auy alinbae 10u SO0P GV HI 4

198510 198 1,UOM PUE SBIJL ¢/ grz=kalp guipjing

puej Jodiie 934e3s uo ‘og4 puz mau e
Aq paiinbai ale saijjioe} a3ea|jdnp ‘0G4 aY3 10U ST GVHS Ji




Wwayl Suowie ag pinod 14o0diy siyl
pue ‘pajedsdo-jiodiie ale AuUnod eyl ul sOg4 peied-dol syl 4o slos

FUIWOAM Ul 884y} jses] 1 - 'S’ Ul SOg4 pe1etedo 1odie 9|dI3|NIA

‘S04 paumo-1iodiie 01 palediliod uaym
90IAIBS J911aq pUe $a3lud JaMo| Ul 1|nsad sAem|e 10U op sOg4 a|diniA

suojielado 0gd4 01 yoeoudde pasndoy Jasn pue AJunwition)

A[IN}SS820N5 Uiyl aWies ay) Suiop sjiodiie snojowinu
pue j9y.1ew ayj uj yoddns ajqidue) s| 810yl ‘0gd oY) 91eiado
0} Aem jusiapjip Apaunsip e sundope aq pjnom gvHT aJIUM




AN TAL] SO83 OML»
VNG (# LIAIHXA) dWVY VO 10} NV1d TVILINI
LAOJAY F1OH NOSHOVT

1BI0L ¥'S 00090} b,
../.& i
b




LddONOS INSWAQTIAST O 2TONIS @

wunp o LUOR 0L

DE3N it (aasiAay) NYTd INEWJOHAIQ VLEONOD
















iSU0I11SaND




EXHIBIT C

RESOLUTION NO. 2017- \{z
OF THE
JACKSON HOLE AIRPORT BOARD

RE: (1) ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT WITH JACKSON HOLE AVIATION, LLC,
AND (2) INTENT TO EXERCISE PROPRIETARY EXCLUSIVE RIGHT TO OPERATE
FBO SERVICES AND FACILITIES ON THE AIRPORT

November 1, 2017

The Jackson Hole Airport Board (the “Board™), a body corporate, organized under the laws
of Wyoming, finds that:

WHEREAS, Wyoming law grants municipal corporations and counties, acting singly or
Jointly, broad authority to develop, maintain, and operate airports and attendant facilities, inciuding

authority to:

a. Acquire, by lease, purchase, or otherwise, lands and other property for airport purposes,
and to construct, maintain and operate these facilities for the landing, housing, care, and

departure of aircraft;

b. Construct, maintain, and operate terminal offices; maintenance, repair and assembly
shops; accommodations for mail, freight, and express services; and all other attendant

facilities; and

c¢. Do all things necessary in the discretion of the city, town or county governing authority
for the purpose of making effective these powers.

WHEREAS, FBO services include the servicing, repair, operation, fueling, and storage of
aircraft and, the provision of such FBO services is within such authority and powers;

WHEREAS, such authority and powers granted to municipal corporations and counties may be
vested in an airport board, the Town of Jackson and County of Teton have in fact vested such power and
authority in the Board, and the Board may therefore lawfully provide the commercial aeronautical
services typically offered by an FBO, and appoint its own personnel necessary to provide such services;

WHEREAS, the Board has entered into an Agreement with the United States Department of the
Interior, dated April 27, 1983, as amended, which authorizes the Board to provide certain specifically
enumerated services to the public, and other “goods and services at the airport which are customary and
usual for airports of [the Airport’s] class and size and which are, to the maximum extent practicable,
compatible with the purposes of Grand Teton National Park,” and FBO services are among those

services specifically authorized by such Agreement;

WHEREAS, the terms of the Board’s grant agreements with the Federal Aviation
Administration generally prohibit the Board from granting anyone an “exclusive right” for the use of the
Airport to provide aeronautical services to the public, but contain an exception to the extent the Board
itself exercises an exclusive right, which exception is generally referred to as the sponsor’s “proprietary

exclusive” right; and



WHEREAS, the Board’s entry into the Asset Purchase Agreement with Jackson Hole Aviation
LLC, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “APA”), and upon the closing of the
purchase and sale contemplated by the APA, the exercise of its proprietary exclusive right to offer all
FBO services on the Airport, would allow for better efficiency and safety of operations on the general
aviation ramp and at the fuel facility, avoid the cost of constructing duplicate FBO facilities, permit the
Board to achieve a good return on its investment — helping to assure the Airport can fund needed capital
improvements and remain financially self-sufficient, and would therefore be in the best interests of the

Airport and the public.

NOW THEREFORE, in open meeting and on motion made, seconded and unanimously
adopted, the Jackson Hole Airport Board hereby resolves as follows:

L. The APA, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, together with all other
documents referenced in and attached to the APA as the exhibits (the “Ancillary Documents™), and all
of the transactions contemplated by the APA and Ancillary Documents, are hereby approved and the
Board is authorized to enter into the APA and perform the obligations described therein.

2. The Board President is authorized, empowered and directed to execute and deliver in the
name and on behalf of this Board the APA and Ancillary Documents, each with such changes as the
President may approve, such approval to be conclusively evidenced by his signature thereto.

3. The officers of the Board are authorized and directed to execute and deliver in the name
and on behalf of the Board any and all documents and instruments and to take any and all actions
contemplated by the APA and the Ancillary Documents, to deliver such closing certificates, instruments
of transfer and assignment as they deem appropriate, and to take in the name of and on behalf of the
Board any and all actions necessary and desirable to effectuate the transactions contemplated by the

APA, the Ancillary Documents or the foregoing resolutions.

4. Effective upon closing of the purchase and sale contemplated by the APA, the Board
shall exercise its proprietary exclusive right to provide FBO services and operate FBO facilities on the
Airport, and in that regard to be the exclusive provider of aviation fuel storage and into-plane sale
and/or delivery of aviation fuel, aviation ramp services, aircraft maintenance and repair services and
aircraft hangaring services on the Airport. Said exclusive right shall not extend to non-FBO
aeronautical services such as aircraft catering services, aircraft cleaning and detailing services, the
transportation of persons or property from aircraft landed, aircraft charter, flight instruction or scenic

flights at and from the Airport.
Adopted by the Board in open and public meeting this 1st day of November 2017.

JACKSON HOLE AIRPORT BOARD

) =,

Secretary Jim V?Kfrop, Presjdent

ATTEST:

.

=




